STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County

Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

**ORIGINAL
RECEIVED**

NOV 15 2019
SC Court of Appeals

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEREMY RENARD WEBB,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002131

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred in appellant's trial for breaking into an automobile when it admitted evidence appellant had broken into another automobile several years earlier, since the offenses were not sufficiently similar to qualify for admission under the Rule 404(b), SCRE exception for common scheme or plan, and where the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the prior bad act?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 21, 2018, a Pickens County Grand Jury indicted appellant for the offense of breaking and entering a motor vehicle. R. p. 140. On November 26, 2018, appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, and a jury. R. 1 John DeJong represented appellant. R. 1. Megan Owen represented the state. R. 1.

Appellant was convicted as indicted and he was sentenced to five years of incarceration. R. 133, ll. 2-6; R. 138, ll. 11-14.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. *State v. Whitner*, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); *State v. Clasby*, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." *Whitner*, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866.

In order to admit evidence of bad acts not resulting in conviction, the trial court must, "[a]s a threshold matter; ... determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant." *Clasby*, 385 S.C. at 154, 682 S.E.2d at 895; see *State v. Wallace*, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 683 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2009). "If the trial judge finds the evidence to be relevant, the judge must then determine whether the bad act evidence [is admissible under the terms] of Rule 404(b)" to show, *inter alia*, the existence of a common scheme or plan. *Clasby*, 385 S.C. at 154, 682 S.E.2d at 895. If the testimony is relevant and proffered for a permissible purpose, the trial court must next conduct a balancing test, pursuant to Rule 403; where the testimony's probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, the trial court may exclude it. See *State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 611, 646 S.E.2d 872, 877 (2007); see also Rule 403, SCRE ("[E]vidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice ...").

ARGUMENT

The court erred in appellant's trial for breaking into an automobile when it admitted evidence appellant had broken into another automobile several years earlier, since the offenses were not sufficiently similar to qualify for admission under the Rule 404(b), SCRE exception for common scheme or plan, and where the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the prior bad act.

The prior bad act evidence was not sufficiently similar to qualify for admission under the common scheme or plan exception. The similarities between the offenses were scant and generalized—only that both crimes were automobile break-ins committed at night, in the same city, while appellant had facial hair.

Relevant facts

In appellant's 2018 trial, the solicitor moved to admit "prior bad act" evidence about an offense underlying appellant's conviction in 2014 for breaking into a motor vehicle. R. 34, l. 19 – 35, l. 3. According to the solicitor, the offenses were "so similar in nature and conduct" that the prior bad act should be admitted "based on common scheme or plan." R. 34, ll. 4-9. The solicitor also said she intended to call the victim in the 2014 case as a witness about the prior bad act. R. 35, ll. 3-4; R. 39, ll. 22-25.

The solicitor argued the offenses were similar because both offenses were committed by appellant, who was a thin black man with facial hair. R. 35, ll. 23-24; R. 36, ll. 12-15. The solicitor further argued the offenses were similar because both occurred within the city limits of Clemson, "about two miles apart," and both occurred "late in the evening or early morning." R. 36, ll. 17-19.

According to the solicitor, appellant's common scheme or plan was that he went "to someone's house, down their driveway, open[ed] car doors to take items from a car." R. 36, l. 23 – 37, l. 1.

Defense counsel responded that there were only so many ways one could break into a car and observed that most automobile break-ins occurred at night. R. 37, ll. 6-9. Defense counsel said, "[H]ow many ways are there to break into a motor vehicle?" R. 37, ll. 7-8. "It takes more . . . tha[n] there was an automobile broken into to make it a prior bad act." R. 37, ll. 9-11. Counsel also noted the offenses were different because in the case at hand, nothing was stolen, while items had been stolen in the 2014 case. R. 37, ll. 18-22.

Counsel argued the fact that the offenses occurred years apart weighed in favor of excluding the prior bad act. R. 37, ll. 23-24. Counsel further pointed out there were likely "many auto break-ins in the City of Clemson." R. 38, ll. 6-8. "I just do not see that this is similar nature." R. 38, ll. 8-9.

The court ruled the evidence was admissible. "[I]n listening to argument from counsel and looking at the brief¹ filed by the State, I find that it does classify as a bad act and would be admissible. Mr. DeJong, your objection is noted for the record." R. 40, ll. 17-21.

Pursuant to the court's ruling, two witnesses told the jury the details of appellant's 2014 automobile break-in case. The victim from the 2014 case, Karen Edwards, testified that on May 19, 2014, someone came into her garage and went inside her car. R. 56, l. 19 – 58, l. 1. Edwards said she did not witness the automobile break-in, but she watched a surveillance video of it, and the suspect was a tall, thin man. R. 57, ll. 5-11.

¹ No such brief or motion was entered into the record as an exhibit. R. 3. Undersigned counsel contacted the Pickens County Clerk of Court's Office and was told that there was no such document in the Clerk of Court's file. Therefore, it was not before the court as part of the lower court record.

Sergeant James Peppers testified that he had watched the video from the Edwards case, and identified appellant as the man in the video from that 2014 case. R. 59, ll. 7-13. Peppers said that there was also a surveillance video of the current incident, and that upon watching it, he recognized and identified appellant as the suspect. R. 62, ll. 7-9. The surveillance video from the instant offense was State's Exhibit #1 and is on file with this Court. The video was nine seconds long, and the suspect's face was blurry during the only time he looked directly at the camera. State's Exhibit #1. No forensic evidence connected appellant to the crime and appellant did not confess.

The jury deliberated for less than twenty minutes before finding appellant guilty. R. 131, l. 25 – 132, l. 19.

Discussion

“Evidence of other bad acts is generally inadmissible to prove a defendant's guilt for the crime charged; however, such evidence may be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent. Rule 404(b), SCRE.” *State v. King*, 424 S.C. 188, 199, 818 S.E.2d 204, 210 (2018).

“In determining whether the common scheme or plan exception is applicable to a particular set of facts, the trial court must first determine if evidence of a prior or subsequent bad act bears a sufficiently close similarity or connection to the crime.” *State v. Patrick*, 318 S.C. 352, 356, 457, S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 1995). In *Patrick*, the state introduced prior bad act evidence that the defendant had committed a similar crime in Georgia within two weeks of the instant offense. In both cases, “the suspects used the same disguises (gloves, wigs, bandanas) and the same tools (walkie-talkies, flashlights). They cut telephone lines in the same manner. They

generally carried the same type of weapons.” *Id.* This Court found that on those facts, the similarities between the two acts were sufficiently close to warrant admission.

In contrast, the South Carolina Supreme Court found insufficient factual similarities to admit prior bad act evidence in *State v. Parker*, 315 S.C. 230, 433 S.E.2d 831 (1993). In *Parker*, the defendant was tried for beating the victim to death with a baseball bat in a parking lot, and the state introduced evidence that Parker had been in a prior physical altercation with the victim in the same parking lot. *Id.* at 232, 433 S.E.2d at 832. Finding error, the Supreme Court explained that the facts were only of “general similarity, and thus [we]re insufficient to support the common scheme or plan exception.” *Id.* at 234, 433 S.E.2d at 833.

“A common scheme or plan concerns more than the commission of two similar crimes; some connection between the crimes is necessary.” *State v. Timmons*, 327 S.C. 48, 52, 488 S.E.2d 323, 325 (1997). “The trial judge must clearly perceive the connection between the other crimes and the crimes charged.” *Id.* See *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 546, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001) (substantial connection between prior bad act and current offense made admission proper). Here, the crimes were not connected.

Nor was the crime charged sufficiently similar to the prior bad act since they both shared only a few general features. In *Timmons, supra*, the South Carolina Supreme Court found the similarities between the crime and the bad act were too general to warrant admission where both crimes: occurred on the weekends; involved more than one defendant; “all-night establishments were targeted; customers in the stores were also robbed; and the stolen cars were recovered bearing ‘fruits of the crimes.’ **These features are too general.**” (emphasis added). *State v. Timmons*, 327 S.C. at 53, 488 S.E.2d at 326.

Here, like in *Timmons*, the features of the two offenses had only general similarities, not specific—the offenses were committed in the same city, during the nighttime, by opening car doors. As defense counsel noted, most automobile break-ins are likely to occur at night. There was nothing unusual about how the cars were entered: the doors were simply opened. The locations were two miles apart. The offenses were remote in time—the prior bad act occurred three and a half years before the current offense and four and a half years before appellant’s trial. Although the solicitor argued appellant was a thin black man who had facial hair when he committed both offenses, there was nothing to indicate this was a disguise and not his natural and typical appearance. The admission of the prior bad act was error, since it was not sufficiently similar to the crime charged for the two offenses to constitute a common scheme or plan.

“Once bad act evidence is found admissible under Rule 404(b), the trial court must then conduct the prejudice analysis required by Rule 403, SCRE.”² *State v. Wallace*, 384 S.C. 428, 435, 683 S.E.2d 275, 278 (2009); accord *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. 247, 253, 742 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct. App. 2013). “Courts must weigh the probative value of evidence of prior bad acts against its prejudicial effect. Such evidence is inadmissible unless the close similarity of the charged offense and the previous acts enhances the probative value of the evidence so as to overrule the prejudicial effect.” *State v. McClellan*, 283 S.C. 389, 392, 323 S.E.2d 772, 774 (1984) (internal quotations and alterations omitted). The court must determine “whether the probative value of

² See *State v. Brooks*, 341 S.C. 57, 62, 533 S.E.2d 325, 328 (2000) (even where evidence falls within a *Lyle* exception, “it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice”); *State v. Patrick*, 318 S.C. 352, 356, 457, S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 1995) (“the court must determine that the probative value of the prior acts evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect”); *State v. King*, 424 S.C. at 200, 818 S.E.2d at 210 (“other bad act evidence must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice”).

the evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” *State v. King*, 424 S.C. 188, 200, 818 S.E.2d 204, 210 (2018).

Here, the trial court did not conduct an analysis of the prior bad act’s probative value vis-à-vis the danger of unfair prejudice. In *Spears, supra*, this Court held that where it was not implicit or apparent from the record whether the trial court considered whether the probative value of a prior bad act was substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice, “the trial court erred by failing to conduct an on-the-record balancing test.” *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. at 254, 742 S.E.2d at 881.

Had the court conducted an analysis of probative value and prejudicial effect, the evidence would have failed the test for admission, as the probative value of the bad act evidence was low. There was nothing unusual about how the crimes were accomplished—the unlocked car doors were simply opened. Both offenses appear to have been mundane, run-of-the-mill automobile break-ins. The primary purpose of admitting a bad act under the common scheme or plan exception is to prove the suspect’s identity.³ While Sergeant Peppers testified that he recognized appellant in the surveillance footage of the prior bad act, there was nothing about that prior recognition that pointed to appellant as being the perpetrator in the case at hand—other than criminal propensity. Sergeant Peppers did not solely know appellant from the 2014 video—Peppers said he had known appellant for over ten years, as they had both grown up in Clemson. R. 69, ll. 9-14.

Here, the probative value of the prior bad act evidence lay chiefly in a forbidden purpose—to convince the jury appellant was guilty based on his propensity to break into cars.

³ In *State v. Jenkins*, 322 S.C.414, 416, 472 S.E.2d 251, 252 (1996), the South Carolina Supreme Court noted that, “As the *Lyle* Court pointed out, the latter two exceptions [identity and common scheme or plan] are interrelated because evidence of a common scheme or plan essentially goes to prove the identity of the perpetrator.”