ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002131

RECEIVED
NOV 07 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JEREMY RENARD WEBB,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street
Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864)-467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Assuming for argument's sake that prior bad act evidence was admitted in error by the trial judge, whether any error was harmless in light of the evidence produced against Appellant at trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2018, the Pickens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for one count of breaking and entering a motor vehicle. On November 26, 2018, a jury trial was held in the Pickens County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, presiding. Appellant was represented by John DeJong, Esq. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Megan Owen of the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant. The trial judge sentenced Appellant to a term of five years' imprisonment. Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal and an initial brief. This brief of Respondent now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the early morning hours of December 21, 2017, Benjamin Weeks was awakened by the sound of his dogs barking loudly. (R. 80). Weeks viewed security camera footage on his cell phone and witnessed a male individual entering his 2014 Chevrolet Equinox. (R. 80-81). Weeks called 911 and initially reported that it was a white male who entered his car. (R. 81). However, after reviewing the footage a second time, Weeks called 911 again and reported that the person who broke into his car could be a black male. (R. 81). Nothing was stolen from the vehicle. (R. 87). Officer Dakota Gray of the Clemson Police Department arrived at Weeks' residence and obtained the security video. (R. 95). Detective James Peppers of the Clemson Police Department was assigned the case the following morning. (R. 62). Peppers grew up in Clemson and knew Appellant for approximately ten years prior to the date of trial. (R. 67, 69). Therefore, Peppers was familiar with Appellant's appearance and was able to identify the light-skinned black male in the video as Appellant. (R. 62).

At trial the State sought to introduce evidence of a prior breaking and entering of a motor vehicle that Appellant committed in 2014. (R. 34-37). Appellant plead guilty to the 2014 charge, but the State did not seek to introduce evidence of the conviction. (R. 39). Instead, the State called the victim of the former crime, Karen Edwards, to testify that in 2014 an unknown male entered her garage at night and took money out of her car. (R. 35, 56-57). Edwards did not identify the male, but described him as "tall and thin." (R. 57, line 11). Like the incident at Weeks' home, the breaking and entering in Edwards' garage was recorded by a security camera. (R. 57). Peppers was also the investigating officer in the 2014 case and he identified Appellant after viewing Edwards' security footage. (R. 60). Peppers testified that he witnessed Appellant entering two vehicles parked outside of Edwards' residence as well as a third vehicle inside the

garage. (R. 60). The trial judge allowed Edwards and Peppers to testify about the 2014 breaking and entering. (R. 40). The 2014 security footage was not played for the jury. (R. 39). Appellant did not testify in his own defense. (R. 109). At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a guilty verdict against Appellant.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the trial court's sound discretion and will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of the trial court's discretion and probable prejudice. State v. Wise, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). In an appeal from a decision regarding the admission of prior bad act evidence, the appellate court is limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "If there is any evidence to support the admission of bad act evidence, the trial judge's ruling cannot be disturbed on appeal." State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 253, 669 S.E.2d 598, 609 (Ct. App. 2008).

ARGUMENT

I.

Even assuming for the sake of argument that prior bad act evidence was admitted in error by the trial judge, any error was harmless in light of the evidence produced against Appellant at trial.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting evidence of a prior automobile break in by Appellant from 2014 during his 2018 trial for the same offense. Specifically, Appellant argues the two offenses were not sufficiently similar to qualify for admission under the common scheme or plan exception in Rule 404(b) SCRE. Even assuming for the sake of argument that Appellant's argument is correct, any error by the trial judge in admitting evidence of Appellant's prior auto break in was harmless in light of the evidence presented against Appellant at trial¹.

"Evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate the accused is a bad person." State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999). However, evidence of prior bad acts may be admissible to show motive, intent, absence of mistake or accident, common scheme or plan, or the identity of the perpetrator. State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923); Rule 404(b) SCRE. "The process of analyzing bad act evidence begins with Rule 401, SCRE. Pursuant to Rule 401, the trial court must determine whether the evidence is relevant." State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 683 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2009). If the evidence is relevant, the trial judge must then determine whether the bad act evidence fits within an exception to Rule 404(b). Id.

"Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed." State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). "No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the

¹ Arguably, the evidence of Appellant's 2014 auto break in was properly admitted under the identity exception in Rule 404(b) SCRE.

materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). “Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191; 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). “[W]here guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence and no rational conclusion can be reached other than the accused is guilty, a conviction will not be set aside because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Livingston, 282 S.C. 1, 6, 317 S.E.2d 129, 132 (1984).

Here, the evidence against Appellant was simple. A tall light-skinned male was caught on surveillance footage breaking into Weeks’ automobile. (State’s Exhibit #1). Weeks was unable to identify this individual, but Detective Peppers was able to identify the individual as Appellant after viewing the security footage. (R. 62). Peppers knew Appellant for ten years and was familiar with his appearance. (R. 69). Thus, the jury was presented with clear security camera footage of an individual breaking into a car and a police officer identifying that individual as Appellant based on Peppers’ knowing Appellant for ten years².

Meanwhile, the evidence presented by the State regarding Appellant’s 2014 automobile break in was minimal. Edwards testified that she too experienced an automobile break in in 2014. (R. 56-57). The break in at Edwards home was also caught on tape, but Edwards could not identify the person in the video. (R. 57). The 2014 tape was not played for the jury. (R. 39). However, Peppers testified that he reviewed the 2014 tape and identified Appellant in the video. (R. 59). The State did not introduce evidence of Appellant’s 2014 conviction or elicit any other information regarding the 2014 case.

² The jury would also have been able to view the security footage while seeing Appellant present at trial to make its own determination of whether Appellant was the perpetrator caught on video.

The jury was convinced of Appellant's guilt based on Pepper's identification of Appellant in the Weeks' security video and not Pepper's limited testimony regarding the 2014 break in. The jury was either going to believe the person breaking into Weeks' car was Appellant or it was someone else. Appellant recognized this when he argued in closing: "But nonetheless, it is still your decision to decide on the identity of who was in that video or even in those still pictures. That's your job. And, basically, that's what this whole case boils down to." (R. 116, lines 9-12). Appellant's closing argument accurately summarizes the question of fact before the jury. The jury ultimately determined that Appellant was the individual depicted in the Weeks' surveillance footage and their decision had little if anything to do with Pepper's identification of Appellant in different security camera footage that was not played before the jury. Thus, any error in the admission of evidence of prior bad act evidence against Appellant is harmless. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.